Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Journal of Controlled Release

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jconrel





# Marianne Parent<sup>a</sup>, Cécile Nouvel<sup>b,c</sup>, Martin Koerber<sup>d</sup>, Anne Sapin<sup>a</sup>, Philippe Maincent<sup>a,\*</sup>, Ariane Boudier<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Université de Lorraine, CITHÉFOR, EA 3452, Faculté de Pharmacie, BP 80403, F-54000 Nancy Cedex, France

<sup>b</sup> Université de Lorraine, Laboratoire de Chimie Physique Macromoléculaire (LCPM), FRE 3564, ENSIC, BP 20451, F-54000 Nancy Cedex, France

<sup>c</sup> Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), Laboratoire de Chimie Physique Macromoléculaire (LCPM), FRE 3564, ENSIC, BP 20451, F-54000 Nancy Cedex, France

<sup>d</sup> Freie Universität Berlin, College of Pharmacy, Kelchstraße 31, 12169 Berlin, Germany

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 July 2013 Accepted 14 August 2013 Available online 1 September 2013

Keywords: In situ forming implants In situ precipitation Phase separation Solvent exchange Drug delivery system PLGA

#### ABSTRACT

*In situ* forming implants (ISI) based on phase separation by solvent exchange represent an attractive alternative to conventional preformed implants and microparticles for parenteral applications. They are indeed easier to manufacture and their administration does not require surgery, therefore improving patient compliance. They consist of polymeric solutions precipitating at the site of injection and thus forming a drug eluting depot. Drug release from ISI is typically divided into three phases: burst during precipitation of the depot, diffusion of drug through the polymeric matrix and finally drug release by system degradation. This review gives a comprehensive overview on (i) the theoretical bases of these three phases, (ii) the parameters influencing them and (iii) the remaining drawbacks which have to be addressed to enlarge their commercial opportunities. Indeed, although some of them are already commercialized, ISI still suffer from limitations: mainly lack of reproducibility in depot shape, burst during solidification and potential toxicity. Nevertheless, depending on the targeted therapeutic application, these shortcomings may be transformed into advantages. As a result, keys are given in order to tailor these formulations in view of the desired application so that ISI could gain further clinical importance in the following years.

© 2013 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	293					
2.	In situ implants — fate and drug release kinetics						
	2.1. Matrix solidification phase	293					
	2.1.1. Phase inversion dynamics	293					
	2.1.2. Drug release during matrix solidification	295					
	2.2. Drug diffusion phase	297					
	2.3. Implant erosion phase	297					
3.	Key parameters of <i>in situ</i> implant composition to obtain a suitable drug release	298					
	3.1. Solvent	298					
	3.2. Polymer	298					
	3.3. Drug	299					
	3.4. Additives	300					
	3.5. External phase to create <i>in situ</i> forming microparticles	300					
4.	Remaining limitations to be addressed	300					
	4.1. Safety	301					
	4.2. Reproducibility	301					
	4.3. Industrial development	302					

Corresponding author. Tel.: +33 3 83 68 23 06; fax: +33 3 83 68 23 01.

E-mail address: philippe.maincent@univ-lorraine.fr (P. Maincent).



Review

*Abbreviations:* BA, benzyl alcohol; BB, benzyl benzoate; DMSO, dimethyl sulfoxide; EA, ethyl acetate; ISI, *in situ* forming implants; ISM, *in situ* forming microparticles; GA, glycolide; GRAS, generally recognized as safe; IIG, inactive ingredient; LA, lactide; LD50, lethal dose 50; NMP, *N*-methyl-2-pyrrolidone; PEO, poly(ethylene oxide); PDLA, poly(*p*,*L*-lactide); PGA, poly(glycolide); PLA, poly(lactide-*co*-glycolide); PLLA, poly(*L*-lactide); PPO, poly(propylene oxide); PVP, polyvinylpyrrolidone; TA, triacetin; 2P, 2-pyrrolidone.

<sup>0168-3659/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2013 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2013.08.024

5. Conclusion	. 302
Acknowledgments	. 302
References	. 302

#### 1. Introduction

Despite the fact that oral route ought to be considered as highly desirable by the patients it still represents a huge challenge in many applications. Indeed, an increasing number of new active pharmaceutical ingredients belong to the family of peptides or proteins and suffer from low bioavailability after oral administration. Alternative routes of administration (pulmonary, nasal, buccal, transdermal, ocular, and rectal) have also shown drawbacks such as enzymatic degradation or low/variable absorption [1]. As a result, there is a renewed interest in parenteral administration, especially as many improvements have been done in pain reduction. Nevertheless, many drugs are characterized not only by a high activity but also by a short half-live. In this context, sustained release forms are highly desirable to avoid continuous infusions or frequent injections. They display several advantages, such as enhanced patient compliance and the avoidance of peaks and valleys in plasma concentrations, thus allowing a reduction of the total dose and minimizing potential side effects.

The development of new injectable drug delivery systems has received considerable attention over the past few years, and many systems have been developed: e.g. microparticles, nanoparticles, liposomes and micelles [2-4]. Besides, significant advances have been made in the field of implants and microparticles. Implants classically formed by melt extrusion must be implanted into the patients, either surgically or through large diameter needles, and surgically retrieved after use unless they are biodegradable. Microparticles can be injected through smaller needles causing less pain to the patient, but the multi-step production processes are costly, the scale-up more difficult to achieve and the encapsulation efficiencies often low [5]. Therefore new alternatives have been studied to allow simple and painless administration as well as easy manufacturing. One of these alternatives is the development of smart systems, especially in situ forming depots, which can be injected into the body in liquid form and then solidify in vivo at the place of injection.

*In situ* forming systems have been commonly classified according to their mechanism of formation as: (i) *in situ* solidifying organogels; (ii) *in situ* cross-linking systems and (iii) *in situ* precipitating systems. Previous papers offered comprehensive reviews of all these *in situ* forming systems [5–8]. By contrast, this review will exclusively focus on the *in situ* forming implants (ISI) based on poly(lactide) (PLA) and poly(lactide-*co*-glycolide) (PLGA), which precipitate following phase separation triggered by solvent/non-solvent exchange. Among the first been described, these systems have been used for the delivery of various drugs. As they can be easily modulated, cover a wide range of release periods and are based on biodegradable polymers with excellent biocompatibility approved for parenteral administration, they represent a valuable strategy for controlled drug release applications.

The concept of *in situ* forming implants was first introduced by Dunn et al. in the 90's [9,10]. A water-insoluble biodegradable polymer is dissolved in a pharmaceutically acceptable organic solvent, miscible or partially miscible with water. Drug is added to this polymeric solution to form either a solution or a suspension. Following injection into an aqueous medium, a phase separation occurs as the solvent diffuses towards the surrounding aqueous environment while water/body fluids penetrate into the organic phase. This results in polymer precipitation and formation of a depot entrapping the drug at the injection site.

Two products have been commercialized, both using *N*-methyl-2pyrrolidone (NMP) as solvent and PLA or PLGA as biodegradable biocompatible water-insoluble polymers. On the one hand, Eligard© (Sanofi) contains leuprolide acetate (a luteinizing hormonereleasing hormone agonist) and is injected subcutaneously at 1 to 6-month intervals for the treatment of advanced prostate cancer [11]. On the other hand, Atridox© (Tolmar Inc.) offers a local sustained release of doxycycline over a week after direct injection into the periodontal pocket. It is indicated in the treatment of chronic periodontitis for both human and veterinary purposes [12].

In view of the above, many other PLA- or PLGA-based ISI have been developed for local or systemic delivery of drugs (including peptides, proteins and nucleic acids), covering a wide range of therapeutics, which shows the potential of in situ implants in a broad range of indications (Table 1). Furthermore, some tissue engineering applications have been explored [12,13]. Drug release from these systems is generally characterized by an initial burst during the solidification of the matrix, followed by a second period mainly controlled by diffusion processes. Finally, subsequent drug release is driven by the polymeric carrier degradation and erosion [14]. Matrix formation, drug diffusion, matrix degradation and therefore drug release could be modulated varying several parameters. This review contains the theoretical basis of drug release from *in situ* forming PLGA implants, the parameters influencing the drug release characteristics as well as a critical discussion of potential toxicity issues and industrialization challenges. Finally, a decisionscheme is proposed to tailor the formulation depending on the drug and the targeted clinical application.

#### 2. In situ implants - fate and drug release kinetics

This chapter reviews the theoretical basis of the solidification process of the *in situ* forming implants, the degradation of the polymeric matrix and the mechanisms of drug release.

#### 2.1. Matrix solidification phase

#### 2.1.1. Phase inversion dynamics

Contact of *in situ* forming PLGA implants into an aqueous medium or body fluids triggers a phase inversion process in the polymer solutions, which finally results in polymer precipitation. Nevertheless, the formation of the final solid/semi-solid depot is not instantaneous but depends on the kinetics of the phase inversion.

The dynamics of non-solvent induced phase inversion have been extensively studied with polymer-membranes designed for purification applications and the underlying thermodynamics and mass-transfer laws as well as corresponding morphologies of the membranes have been elucidated [40]. After immersion of the polymeric solution into an aqueous medium, an exchange between polymer solvent and nonsolvent (i.e. water or body fluids) occurs. Induced by this diffusion process the polymer solution turns into a thermodynamically metastable or unstable state. Driven by a decrease of the free energy of the system the homogeneous solution can be separated into two phases of different compositions – a polymer-lean and a polymer-rich phase. Ternary phase diagrams with the composition in solvent, non-solvent and polymer represent a useful tool to follow or predict the phase transitions which occur after injection of the polymeric solution into aqueous environments (Fig. 1A). The phase diagrams visualize compositions were the polymer solution consists of a single homogeneous phase as well as an area representing the liquid-liquid demixing gap delimited by the binodal curve. This demixing gap is again divided into a domain delimited by the spinodal curve representing unstable compositions (Fig. 1A: area II) as well as a domain between the spinodal and the binodal curves representing metastable compositions (Fig. 1A: areas I and III). Demixing of the latter compositions occurs according to a binodal decomposition through the generation and growth of stable nuclei of a polymer-lean phase at higher polymer concentrations

### Table 1

Results published on PLA/PLGA-based ISI categorized for indications.

Molecule	Polymer	Solvent	Main outcomes	Ref
Cancer therapy Cisplatin	PLGA	NMP	In vivo sustained delivery (rats) for 7 days	[15]
Fenretinide	PLGA PLGA	DMSO NMP	Increased maximum tolerated dose and tumor suppression effect (mice) vs. free cisplatin In vivo sustained release (dogs) but lack of effect (inactivation of cisplatin bioactivity by interaction with D In vitro 1-month sustained release	
Hormonal therapy Human growth hormone Levonorgestrel Testosterone Calcitonin	PLGA PLA	BB BB/BA	Sustained serum levels for 28 days (rats) Zero-order drug release <i>in vitro</i> lasting on 90 days	[18] [19] [20] [21]
Immunomodulation Betamethasone Thymosin-1-alpha Soluble tumor necrosis factor (ΤΝFα) receptor	PLGA PLGA PLGA	NMP NMP (± TA) Glycofurol	<i>In vitro</i> releases from sterilized formulations from 24 to 90 days, depending on the PLGA composition Significant increases of thymic and spleen indexes (immunosuppressive mice) <i>In vitro</i> : burst (<20%) then continuous release (20 days) <i>In vivo</i> : long-lasting protection against pathological effects of TNFα (mice)	[22] [23] [24]
Anti-infectious therapy Ivermectine Secnidazole	PLA PLA PLGA	NMP, 2P, TA, BB NMP	In vitro release rates (96 days) with speeds ranked in the order NMP $> 2P > TA > BB$ In vitro release (3 days) with high bursts (>30%, desired) and suitable antimicrobial activity	[25] [26]
Tinidazole HIV-fusion inhibitor	PLA PLGA	NMP DMSO/TA	Significant decrease in periodontitis symptoms (dogs, 7-day local delivery) Drug plasma concentration in the therapeutic range up to 48 h (rats)	[27] [28]
Analgesia/anesthesia Aspirin	PLGA	NMP	7-day controlled release <i>in vitro</i> Faster polymer degradation with aspirin	[29]
Ketoprofen Bupivacaine	PLGA PLGA	NMP 2P	Effective plasma levels maintained about 8 weeks (rats) Reduction of plasmatic concentration (systemic side effects) while local analgesic effect was maintained for 6 h (rats)	[30] [31]
Neurological disorders Haloperidol Risperidone Risperidone Paliperidone Naltrexone	PLGA PLGA PLGA PLGA	NMP BB/BA DMSO NMP	20–30 days of <i>in vivo</i> release (rats) Prolonged mean residence time: 32.6 h <i>vs.</i> 5.8 h for risperidone solution (rabbits) 3-week sustained release (dogs) Sustained suppressive effect of psychotic behavior during 38 days (mice) 30-day sustained release <i>in vitro</i> (burst >40%)	[32] [33] [34] [35]
Metabolic disorders Rosiglitazone Insulin	PLGA PLGA	NMP, TA BB/BA	Sustained <i>in vitro</i> release up to 8 days with lower burst for TA (<20%) than NMP (20–60%) Better pharmacological response during 15 days after a single injection vs. routine once-a-day administration of insulin (mice)	[36] [37]
Gene delivery Model plasmid DNA Model plasmid DNA-containing PLGA microspheres	PLGA PLGA	Glycofurol Glycofurol	2-month <i>in vitro</i> release (burst <20%) with transfection activity maintained <i>In vivo</i> transfection with 10-fold higher protein expression (up to 67 days) vs. plasmid solution (mice) <i>In vitro</i> controlled release during 70 days with transfection activity maintained	[38] [39]
Tissular reconstruction Bone morphogenetic proteins	PLGA	NMP	Trend without statistical increase in bone formation vs. blank formulations but less inflammatory response (rats)	[13]

NMP: N-methyl-2-pyrrolidone; DMSO: dimethylsulfoxide; BB: benzyl benzoate; BA: benzyl alcohol; TA: triacetin; 2P: 2-pyrrolidone.

(area I) or of a polymer-rich phase at lower polymer concentrations (area III), which affects the morphology of the resulting system significantly (Fig. 1B).

Binodal and spinodal curves meet at only one point, called the "critical composition" (indicated by the cross in Fig. 1A), at which transition from the homogeneous to the unstable domain and hence phase separation occurs spontaneously by spinodal decomposition resulting in a bicontinuous structure of polymer-lean and polymer-rich phase (Fig. 1B, II).

After injection of ISI formulation into aqueous medium, water concentration in the polymeric solution increases until finally the demixing gap is reached. In most cases, the phase inversion process crosses the area I, as polymer concentrations used are commonly above the critical point. Hence, droplets of polymer-lean phase form within the polymerrich phase during the demixing process. These two liquid phases are in thermodynamic equilibrium and hence evolve in parallel until the polymer concentration of the polymer-rich phase becomes high enough to solidify the structure (Fig. 1A: solidification region) due to the continuous loss of polymer solvent to the aqueous surrounding.

Key parameters of the phase inversion dynamics of *in situ* forming systems are thus the influx of non-solvent (*i.e.* water) as well as the outflow of polymer solvent. Several scenarios are possible depending for example on whether the solvent used has high or low miscibility with the non-solvent (Fig. 2).

In case of water-miscible solvents, injection of the polymeric solution into water leads to a fast diffusion of the solvent towards the aqueous medium (*e.g.* NMP; fast inverting systems). The solution is quenched immediately and the composition path crosses the binodal curve without delay time. This triggers the formation of a solidified polymer layer at the top of the depot (Fig. 2: point D), sublayers still consisting in homogeneous polymer/solvent solution (phase A). Then, the top layer forms a barrier to the entry of water. Following the progressive



**Fig. 1.** Model of a ternary phase diagram of a mixture of solvent, non-solvent and polymer (A). As an example, P point corresponds approximately to 8% of polymer, 8% of non-solvent and 84% of solvent. In the areas I and III, demixing occurs through binodal decomposition, with nucleation and growth of a polymer-lean phase (area I) or a polymer-rich phase (area III) (B). Area II, area of absolute instability, direct transition leading to spontaneous formation of bicontinuous structures.

penetration of water, the sublayer composition enters progressively the metastable region leading to phase separation (phases B and C). The core of the nascent pore consists of a water-rich polymer-lean phase (C), while the surrounding is a polymer-rich phase (B). If the solvent has a high affinity for water, demixing requires low quantities of water. The resulting structure is a thin top layer on a pore-rich region. Furthermore, solidification of the pore wall is slow because solvent diffuses rapidly and in large quantities into the nascent pore. As the water penetration front progresses, pores are supplied with both solvent and water. Pore growth is stopped by the solidification of the polymerrich phase surrounding it (phase D). As penetration of water is fast, the polymer-rich phase part of the pore situated close to the implant surface will solidify while the part far from the surface will stay liquid longer. As a result, typical "finger-like" pore structures (Fig. 3A) are generated [40].

In case of solvents immiscible with water, liquid–liquid demixing is delayed when the formulation is injected into water, as diffusion rates are slower (*e.g.* TA; slow inverting systems). As a result, the top layer does not solidify so fast and therefore affects in a lower manner solvent and water diffusions from/into the sublayers. Consequently, the final structure is more homogeneous. Solvent exhibiting low affinity for water, nucleation starts later as it requires a higher quantity of penetrated water. Consequently, numerous nuclei are initiated at the same time and because each of them consumes solvent, the growth of each nucleus is limited by its neighbors. Moreover, solidification of the pore wall is fast because a lower proportion of solvent is present in the polymer-lean phase. In this case "sponge-like" implant morphologies (Fig. 3B) are observed [41].

The dynamics of the phase inversion can be tailored by modulating the *in situ* implant composition, *i.e.* polymer solvent and/or polymer. These changes, however, impact the initial drug release within the first day (burst) directly but also affect the following diffusion- and erosion-controlled release phases, due to effects on the matrix morphology and the degradation of the solidified matrix.

#### 2.1.2. Drug release during matrix solidification

During the first periods after injection of ISI, drug release is essentially occurring by drug transport either through the polymer-rich or through the polymer-lean phase of the forming implants [14,41]. Although, it was recently hypothesized that convection might contribute to the initial drug release of *in situ* forming implant systems [42], a diffusion-

controlled drug and solvent release is generally accepted as the applicable transport mechanisms during the solidification [41].

According to a diffusion-controlled release, the quantity of drug initially released can be attributed to physicochemical constants of the drug such as solubility, diffusivity, partition coefficient, dissociation constant and molecular weight [43,44]. The water-miscibility of the polymer solvent, however, plays a crucial role for drug release, due to its impact on the environment governing drug diffusion.

## Fast inverting system



## Slow inverting system



**Fig. 2.** Typical ternary phase diagrams and matrix structures observed with a fast inverting system (for example when solvent has high water miscibility, *e.g.* NMP) and a slow inverting system (when solvent is partially water miscible, *e.g.* TA). Dotted black lines on the phase diagram represent the tie lines between the two compositions in equilibrium. After injection, the single phase mixture A splits into two phases B and C which then evolve through B' and C' and finally to D (in the solidification region) and E. In the first case, relatively large increases in polymer concentration of polymer-rich phase will occur quickly upon the separation, as indicated by the steep slopes of tie lines. In the second case, the tie lines have lower slopes and cross the horizontal axis of the diagram at fixed and low solvent compositions (related to water solubility). Thus, a less concentrated, more fluid polymer-rich phase is generated.



1681 µm



## 400 µm

**Fig. 3.** Examples of "finger-like" structures (A) and "sponge-like" structure (B) in a fast and a slow inverting *in situ* formulation, respectively. Formulation: 40% m/m PLGA (50:50, M<sub>w</sub> 10,000) in NMP (A) or TA (B). Reprinted from [41] copyright (1999), with permission from Elsevier.

Fast inverting systems based on water-miscible solvents are often characterized by a high drug burst [25]. This is usually attributed to an increased probability for the formation of an interconnected network of polymer-lean phase, representing an implant domain with high drug diffusivity (Fig. 4) [14,41]. Diffusion coefficients are considered to be around  $10^{-5}$  cm<sup>2</sup>/s in the polymer-lean phase of the nascent implant system (Fig. 2: phase C) and about  $10^{-7}$ – $10^{-8}$  cm<sup>2</sup>/s in the corresponding polymer-rich phase (Fig. 2: phase B) as well as in the homogeneous polymer solution (Fig. 2: phase A) [45]. An interconnected network increases the chance for the incorporated drug load to have access to the surface of the solidifying matrix and hence to be rapidly released [46]. Once the porous volume is depleted and the remaining drug is entrapped, drug is released much slower by diffusion through the hardened polymeric matrix (Fig. 4).

As an example, large hydrophilic molecules like peptides and proteins are transported preferentially through the interconnected polymer-lean phase of a fast inverting system and hence released in form of a burst. A retarded diffusion is obtained, however, if these drugs are forced through the polymer-rich phase as reported for slowly inverting *in situ* implant formulation (Fig. 4) [41]. Hence, slow inverting systems are characterized by reduced bursts, because the extent of the formation of a polymer-lean phase is limited by the limited water-miscibility of the systems [14], which causes the depot to stay more or less viscous during a prolonged solidification process and produces a lower porosity in the hardening structure. As a consequence the drug diffusivity is decreased as well as the diffusion path length increased, resulting in a more gradual drug release.

Small or hydrophobic drugs, however, can efficiently diffuse through the polymer-rich and even the hardened polymer phase into the aqueous surrounding [47]. If drugs in close contact to the polymer are ionizable, polymer–drug interactions can modify the diffusion rates further [48].

# Fast inverting system



# Slow inverting system





**Fig. 4.** Release of drugs during implant hardening in relation to their location in fast and slow inverting systems: 1. drug close to the surface = fast release, 2. drug in the polymer-lean phase = fast release, 3. drug in the polymer solution = slow release.



2: diffusion-facilitated release 3: degradation-facilitated release

Fig. 5. Typical release profiles of fast (left) and slow (right) inverting systems.

#### 2.2. Drug diffusion phase

Drug diffusion out of the hardened implant needs to proceed according to the same principles as applicable to conventional matrices, like implants and microparticles, consisting of drug and polymer only. According to applicable laws, drug diffusion is a function of the physico-chemical properties of the drug, the polymer as well as the matrix morphology. The main factors affecting the release can thus be derived; being the drug diffusivity within the polymer matrix, the drug solubility, drug loading, but also the matrix dimensions (*i.e.* surface area) as well as its porosity and the tortuosity of the diffusion pathway [43,49].

In a number of cases the fraction of drug released within this phase is small [17,19,20], which can result in a release plateau after the initial phase and before the erosion-controlled release phase commences (Fig. 5 left) [50].

A careful modulation of the *in situ* implant composition and hence the phase inversion dynamics, however, can lead to continuous diffusion-controlled release (Fig. 5 right) of drugs over time-frames exceeding the hardening phase of the formulations [18,21,23].

#### 2.3. Implant erosion phase

Polyester degradation is the hydrolytic chain scission process cutting polymer chains into oligomers and finally monomers [51]. The degradation of the polyesters poly(lactide) (PLA), poly(glycolide) (PGA) and poly(lactide-*co*-glycolide) (PLGA) is the prerequisite for the erosion of the polymer, which is the loss of implant mass due to the release of water-soluble PLGA degradation products (critical molecular weight <10<sup>3</sup> g/mol [52]) from the polymer matrix. The monomeric end-

Surface erosion Bulk erosion Homogeneous Heterogeneous

Time

Fig. 6. Different degradation pathways of polymeric matrices.

products of the hydrolysis process are lactic and/or glycolic acid, which are eliminated from the body through the Krebs cycle.

Water uptake and hence degradation of the polyesters actually starts immediately after injection of the ISI formulation into aqueous medium (water or body-fluids). However, it is not before water-soluble oligomers are formed that the polymer matrix starts to erode due to the release of the mobilized molecules [53]. Additionally, these products have carboxylic chain ends which are able to autocatalyze the ester bond hydrolysis and hence lead to a faster degradation of the entire polymer matrix.

In case of the PLA, PGA and PLGA water penetration into the polymer is faster than the degradation of polymer bonds (Fig. 6). Hence, the polymer is hydrolyzed over the entire matrix leading to a homogeneous formation of degradation products and finally to bulk erosion [54]. On the contrary, if the chain scission occurs faster than diffusion of water, as for poly(ortho esters) for example [51], the hydrolysis is confined to the matrix surface and the polymer matrix undergoes surface erosion. Although these polymers could be potentially used for biodegradable *in situ* implants, they are not approved for parenteral administrations yet.

The release of the formed oligomers is not necessarily immediate as shown for large polymer matrices [55]. In thick structures lactic acid oligomers can form salts differing from the protonated acids in solubility characteristics [51]. Accumulation of degradation products in the core of such a matrix and the entering of buffer ions from the matrix surface favor a crystallization of insoluble salts in the outer shell of the polymer matrix. Besides the formation of insoluble salts the formation of stereocomplexes between poly(p-lactic acid) and poly(L-lactic acid) oligomers appears to be another reason for the insoluble residual of PL(G)A matrices undergoing "heterogeneous" bulk erosion [51].

Moreover, it was hypothesized that the pH gradient developing between the matrix surface, which is in contact with buffered medium, and an oligomers-enriched inner core results in a slower degradation of the shell vs. the center [56]. This, however, seems to be inconsistent with recent insights into the hydrolytic degradation of PLA oligomers: stability of oligomers is indeed nonlinearly related to the pH with a stability maximum at acidic conditions and not at neutral pH [52]. In such conditions, faster degradation in the center is probably related to the accumulation of –OH and –COOH functions in the core (by random hydrolysis) resulting in increased hydrophilicity [52].

The erosion of the polymer matrix facilitates the release of efficiently entrapped drug molecules, probably situated in the polymer-rich phase during phase inversion [14]. Erosion starts when the degradation is sufficient to result in soluble oligomers forming a porous network, which enables the release of oligomers as well as the entrapped drugs [57].



**Fig. 7.** Typical example of *in vitro* release profiles of a protein illustrating the impact of water-affinity of solvents on drug release, reprinted from [14] Copyright (1999), with permission from Elsevier. ( $\blacklozenge$ ) NMP; ( $\blacksquare$ ) TA; ( $\blacktriangle$ ) ethyl benzoate.

In summary, water uptake is the main trigger of matrix degradation and erosion, resulting in a calculable change of the polymer molecular weight. During degradation, however, physical changes can occur such as softening, pore creation/closure due to the decrease in polymer molecular weight, pH changes due to the formation of acidic degradants and crystallization. All of these events can affect the drug release during this phase making it a complex phenomenon. As for conventional biodegradable matrices, however, modulations are generally feasible by the choice of the polymer grade as well as by addition of additives like pore-formers [58], pH modifiers [59], or plasticizers [57].

It can be concluded, that the drug release from *in situ* forming implants is highly dependent on the matrix structure resulting from the phase inversion process as well as the polymer and drug properties.

# 3. Key parameters of *in situ* implant composition to obtain a suitable drug release

This part highlights the main aspects currently encountered in the literature. As previously seen, the matrix structure is highly dependent on the solvent used, especially on its affinity for water. Although this has been studied from the very beginning of the ISI concept [9,10], other key parameters such as polymer, drug, additives, or injection site have progressively emerged and will be discussed in this section.

#### 3.1. Solvent

The ideal solvent or solvent blend for *in situ* systems needs to possess suitable properties in terms of water affinity, viscosity, ability to dissolve the polymer and last but not least, safety.

A low water affinity assists controlling the phase inversion/matrix formation and thus the drug burst. Reducing the affinity of solvent for water by replacing part or the totality of the solvent by a water-immiscible one slows the phase inversion rate increasing the chance for a more uniform to zero-order release pattern over an extended time-period [14,41]. This trend has been observed both *in vitro* [19,25,32] and *in vivo* [18,20,23] typically with solvents like benzyl benzoate, ethyl acetate, ethyl benzoate or TA. A good example of the influence of water-immiscible solvents is given in Fig. 7, from the study of Graham et al. [40]. In another *in vitro* study, Ahmed et al. reported haloperidol bursts from a PLGA-based ISI (50:50, M<sub>w</sub> 60,000–70,000 g/mol; 20% w/v) of 20% with DMSO, 18% with NMP, 9% with ethyl acetate and only 7% with TA [32]. Durations of release were also affected by the solvents: being 24 and 28 days for DMSO and NMP (water-miscible).

The solvent should further have a viscosity facilitating the easy injection of the formulations (also referred to as "syringeability"). Systems

 Table 2

 Common solvents in ISI formulations and their main characteristics.

Solvents	Water miscibility (mg/mL)	Viscosity (cP) at 20 °C	Classification	LD50 oral rat (mg/kg)
Glycofurol	miscible in all proportions <sup>a</sup>	8–18 <sup>a</sup>	/	980 <sup>c</sup>
DMSO	miscible <sup>a</sup>	2.19 <sup>d</sup>	ICH class III <sup>e</sup>	14,500 <sup>c</sup>
NMP	1000 <sup>b</sup>	1.89 <sup>d</sup>	ICH class II <sup>e</sup>	3914 <sup>c</sup>
2P	1000 <sup>b</sup>	14.66 <sup>d</sup>	/	328 <sup>c</sup>
TA	64 <sup>b</sup>	19.7 <sup>d</sup>	FDA GRAS <sup>a</sup>	3000 <sup>c</sup>
BA	35 <sup>c</sup>	5.81 <sup>d</sup>	FDA IIG <sup>a</sup>	1 230 <sup>c</sup>
BB	Insoluble <sup>b</sup>	8.67 <sup>d</sup>	FDA IIG <sup>a</sup>	1 680 <sup>c</sup>

NMP: *N*-methyl-2-pyrrolidone; DMSO: dimethyl sulfoxide; 2P: 2-pyrrolidone; TA: triacetin; BB: benzyl benzoate; BA: benzyl alcohol; GRAS: generally recognized as safe; IIG: inactive ingredients. LD50: lethal dose 50.

<sup>a</sup> Data are from [62].

<sup>b</sup> Data are from [25].

<sup>c</sup> Data are from Material Data Safety Sheet.

<sup>d</sup> Data are from [63]. <sup>e</sup> Data are from [64]. based on some water-immiscible solvents, for example, could have viscosities making their own injection difficult, which could necessitate implementing a warm-up step before injection, as previously reported [20].

In addition to the viscosity of the solvent itself, syringeability is also facilitated by solvent affinity to the polymer ("good" solvent). This will indeed not only ease the dissolution step but also decrease the viscosity of the overall concentrated polymeric solutions used for in situ systems. As a result, in "good" solvents, polymer-solvent interactions predominate over polymer-polymer ones, therefore lowering the viscosity. By contrast, in "poor" solvents of the polymer, polymer-polymer interactions are favored, leading to the formation of aggregates and an increased viscosity [25]. "Good" solvents for the polymer also present the advantage of a reduced injected volume, due to the possibility to achieve higher polymer and drug loadings in the formulations. This is beneficial in two aspects, (i) volume constraints of subcutaneous or intramuscular injections (<1 mL [60]) and (ii) a lower amount of organic solvent administered. Beyond its impact on the injectability of the formulations, viscosity also affects the diffusion of species in the solidifying matrix. In this respect, a high viscosity will slow down the entry of water and the drug diffusion. Therefore it reduces the burst as well as delays polymer degradation.

Thirdly, good compatibility of the solvent with the polymer and the drug is a prerequisite. For instance, Dong et al. reported an influence of the solvent properties on the storage stability of PLGA [61] and Dernell et al. reported an interaction between DMSO and cisplatin, diminishing its biological activity [16].

Finally, biocompatibility or at least low toxicity is required for pharmaceutical acceptance (see also Section 4.1.). Several solvents have already been used for *in situ* depots formulation (Table 2). Of course, none of these gathered all the previously mentioned qualifications. NMP and DMSO seem to be safe due to pharmaceutical precedence in approved parenteral products, but they are freely miscible with water resulting in a rapid solvent and drug burst, as discussed above. One has to consider, that rapid initial release of large amounts of drug and solvent within a short time frame (minutes to hours) is undesirable, since it may result in local tissue irritation or even systemic sideeffects not predicted by an estimated average dose, which considers a constant administration over the entire drug delivery period.

On that basis, water-immiscible solvents are attractive but challenge the injectability of the formulation. Hence, the better alternative can be a blend of water-immiscible and water-miscible solvents to obtain acceptable viscosity, suitable phase inversion rate and low burst.

#### 3.2. Polymer

The characteristics of the biodegradable polymer strongly impact the degradation and hence not only the erosion of the matrix but also the phase inversion dynamics.

PLGA is a copolymer of D,L-lactic and glycolic acid obtained by ringopening copolymerization of D,L-lactide (LA) and glycolide (GA) (Fig. 8) [65]. Polymer grades are available with lactide/glycolide molar ratios 100:0 to 0:100 and molecular weights from below 10,000 up to 200,000 g/mol. As a result, PLGA copolymers provide a wide range of physicochemical and degradation characteristics for controlled drug delivery applications.

The composition of the copolymer is a critical point. LA/GA ratio and their distribution inside the chains (*i.e.* copolymer microstructure) are complex parameters, modulating the hydrophobicity and crystallinity of the system. Indeed, lactide exists in three different forms due to its two asymmetric carbons:  $\iota$ -lactide, D-lactide or *meso*-lactide (Fig. 8).  $\iota$ -lactide and  $D,\iota$ -lactide (*i.e.* the racemic mixture of  $\iota$ - and D-lactide) are the most commonly used forms for drug delivery applications. Poly( $\iota$ -lactide) (PLLA) is a semi-crystalline material while poly( $D,\iota$ -lactide) (PDLA) is amorphous [66]. PGA is also crystalline but





B) The three isoforms of lactide



**Fig. 8.** Principle of PLGA synthesis through ring-opening copolymerization of lactide and glycolide (A) and existence of three isoforms of lactide (B).

PLGA, the copolymer of LA and GA, can be again amorphous depending on the polymer composition and microstructure.

The hydrolysis proceeds faster in the amorphous polymer parts compared to the crystalline ones resulting in a faster onset of polymer erosion and thus erosion-controlled drug release [67]. Degradants of the initially amorphous D,L-PLA, however, can crystallize during the hydrolysis resulting not only in a slower degradation of these domains [68] but also in a compromised biocompatibility of the polymeric device [69]. Crystallization occurs especially if the degree of randomness of the polymer is low, *i.e.* the segment lengths of monomeric repeat units in the polymer backbone are long. During crystallization, drugs can be excluded from the newly formed domains to the amorphous or already porous region, therefore accelerating their releases [70].

Modulating the polymer hydrophobicity could impact both the burst by influences on the solvent–water exchange rate and the degradation. As GA is slightly more hydrophilic than LA and introduces the more labile GA–LA bonds into the polymer backbone [71], the higher the GA content, the faster is the hydrolysis rate. Due to the crystalline nature of PGA, however, the degradation of PLGA containing 40 to 70% of GA is the fastest. Thus, for drug release applications for up to 2 months, PLGA 50:50 is often used [72].

The molecular weight of the polyester is another factor affecting matrix erosion and also the initial drug release. Several studies showed indeed that smaller bursts occur with low molecular weight PLGA compared with medium or high molecular weight PLGA. Patel et al. [73], for example, reported a burst of 28.2% fluorescein from PLGA implants (50:50, 36.5% m/m in NMP) for low molecular weight PLGA (M<sub>w</sub> 16,000 g/mol), vs. 55.1% for high molecular weight PLGA (M<sub>w</sub> 60,000 g/mol). Results from Luan et al. [46] followed the same pattern with a burst of leuprolide acetate of 18.8% and 48.1% from implants based on PLGA 50:50 with low or high molecular weight (Mw 7000-17,000 and 24,000-38,000 g/mol; 30% m/m of polymer in NMP), respectively. In both studies a slower diffusion of NMP from the lower molecular weight-PLGA solution and thus a slower phase transition was hypothesized, due the higher hydrophilicity of this polymer. This affinity for water also explains their higher tendency to swell [42,74], probably driven by an osmotic process.

The degradation process is obviously a function of the initial polymer molecular weight, since it is the starting point for the pseudo-first order decrease of the molecular weight over time [75]. Consequently, the higher the molecular weight initially, the longer is the time needed to produce water-soluble oligomers and hence the induction period until matrix erosion commences [53].

To summarize, low molecular weight-PLGA formulations often exhibit a lower initial release than high molecular weight-PLGA systems, but onset of the erosion-controlled release is accelerated. Intermediate properties can be achieved using a blend of PLGA with various molecular weights [74]. However, instead of a simple average of the release profiles of the pure polymers, the release can be primarily controlled by the polymer with the higher molecular weight during the burst phase, while degradation-facilitated release seemed to be controlled by the lower molecular weight polymer in the first place. Intermediate behavior was maintained until a 10:1 ratio of both polymer types.

The last parameter modulating the hydrophobicity of PLGA is the kind of chemical moieties at the chain ends. PLGA could be provided either with free carboxylic acids at the ends of polymeric backbone chain, or end-capped with alcohols. The end-cappings decrease PLGA hydrolysis rates, because they make the polymer somewhat more hydrophobic [75], leading to a decrease in water uptake and most importantly because capped acids cannot participate to the autocatalysis of the ester bonds. However, reduced burst might also be obtained with uncapped polymers in the case of active drugs having functional groups interacting with polymer acidic ends [46,76]. Covalent modifications of the polymeric backbone itself with a hydrophilic polymers, like poly(ethylene glycol), have been investigated but lack yet of pharmaceutical acceptance [77,78].

The simplest modulation to reduce the burst of *in situ* forming implants is an increase of the polymer concentration, due to the decreased water affinity of the solution, the thicker solidified polymer skin and the generally lower diffusivities in the system, which slows the solvent/ water exchange and generates a less porous structure. This approach has been extensively studied [19,23,26,41,79,80]. For example, haloperidol initial release from ISI was decreased, increasing the polymer concentration (20, 30, 40% m/v), whatever solvent was used (NMP, DMSO, TA, ethyl acetate) [32]. Additionally, increasing polymer concentration also extended the duration of release, *e.g.* 28, 35 and 47 days for ISI–NMP [32]. However, the limitation of this method is the concomitant increase in system viscosity, which could quickly hamper injectability [60].

To conclude, polymer characteristics influence on the one hand the hydrophobicity of the system, which impacts the initial as well as the diffusion-controlled drug release *via* its effect on the phase inversion dynamics, and on the other hand the erosion-controlled release out of the matrix according to the initial molecular weight and the degradation rate.

#### 3.3. Drug

Injectable formulations with high drug loadings have the advantage, that the volume of the formulation can be reduced considering a fixed dose to be administered. This is interesting from an economical point of view and from the patients' point of view since pain exposure times are reduced [60].

The effect of the low loading on release of *in situ* implants was investigated in a number of studies. Wang et al. [81] varied ketoprofen from 4 to 10% m/m (PLGA 70:30, 35% m/m in NMP) without significant effect in drug release *in vitro*. Ravivarapu et al. [82] obtained the same results *in vivo* with leuprolide acetate 3 to 6% m/m (PLGA 75:25, 45% m/m in NMP). Interestingly, Chen et al. [20] observed also the same but at much higher drug loadings of 20–60% (PDLA 5% m/v in BB/BA 85/15 v/v). Although the release was increased in absolute terms (0.33 to 0.85 mg/day), a 3-fold increase of the drug loading led to an about 3-fold increase of the absolute amount of testosterone released within a 3-month period, which means that the fraction of drug released (%) remained the same.

According to the solubility of the drug in the polymer solution and its concentration, the drug can be either dissolved or dispersed in the *in situ* 

forming implant. Based on this state, different behaviors have been described. Körber and Bodmeier [83] found a faster release of lysozyme (4% based on polymer) when it was dispersed rather than dissolved in the polymer solution (PLGA 50:50, 40% m/m in DMSO). This was attributed to drug particles sedimentation and heterogeneity of the resulting polymer–solvent–drug mixture. Large drug aggregates were created at the surface of the matrix, and released rapidly. In agreement with this, Brodbeck et al. [18] investigated human growth hormone formulations, which showed a large burst, when the bulky lyophilized powder was suspended in the polymer solution, whereas a low burst was obtained for the material obtained after densification of the lyophilized material, which was attributed to a reduced water uptake of the formulations.

Another point of particular importance is their stability. As previously mentioned and as in any galenic formulation, drug interaction with excipients can also occur in ISI. On one side, a drug can accelerate polymer degradation [13,29,38,61], either because it contains water or possesses H-bond donating functional groups which can interact catalytically with polymer chains and therefore increase the exposition of ester bonds to water. On the other side, polymer and/or solvent can degrade or inactivate a drug [23,29,61]. In this sense, PLGA based-ISI are not suitable for drugs degradable by water or highly sensitive to the acidic environment formed within the degrading polymer matrix. However, stabilization strategies such as the formation of insoluble salts or complexes [18] or addition of basic additives [84] have not yet been fully explored.

#### 3.4. Additives

An alternative method to scale the burst of ISI is the incorporation of additives into the polymer solution. The use of hydrophilic additives is thereby expected to accelerate the liquid–liquid demixing and hence generate higher bursts, as shown for mannitol [85] or polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) [41] addition. Interestingly, Graham et al. [41] observed an 8-fold increase in the separation rate with only 3% (m/m) PVP. Accelerating the phase separation permits the faster emergence of zones where species have great diffusion capacity (see Fig. 4). Such additives appear to impact the initial period of release only [85], which could be explained by a lack of changes in terms of water penetration or overall morphology due to the rapid leaching of these additives.

Addition of amphiphilic or hydrophobic additives reduces the burst while also modifying the morphology of the system, with a transition towards a sponge structure. Glycerol monostearate, ethyl heptanoate, stearic acid, ethyl heptanoate, methyl heptanoate and ethyl nonoate, for example, were added to ISI formulations, from 1 to 10% m/m [33,35,86,87]. Whatever the active ingredient, formulations with these additives retained more solvent than control ISI, consisted in less porous and even sponge-like matrices, which allow lower bursts and extended releases. In addition, these effects were proportional to the amount of incorporated additive and to its hydrophobicity. Noteworthy, the highest tested quantities of these additives did not result in increased viscosity as it would be expected for a burst reduction by an increase of the polymer concentration. To illustrate, risperidone burst from ISI studied by Dong et al. [33] (PLGA 70:30, 30% m/v in BB/BA 90:10 v/v) was reduced in vitro from 32.2% to 4.7% in formulations containing glycerol monostearate. A higher mean-residence time was also obtained in vivo (86.8 h for modified ISI vs. 32.6 h for control ISI vs. 5.8 h for risperidone solution). A very smooth surface was observed for modified ISI, probably because of a specific location of the additive filling the pores on the surface. A similar burst reduction has been reported by DesNoyer and McHugh [58] after addition of Pluronic (triblock copolymer poly(ethylene)oxide/poly(propylene)oxide/poly(ethylene)oxide, PEO-PPO-PEO) in a formulation of PDLA in NMP. Nevertheless in this case, no significant morphological change was observed, yet the protein burst was strongly reduced. This was explained by a preferential segregation of Pluronic to the phase boundary during phase inversion. The hydrophobic PPO chains are anchored into the polymer matrix, while the hydrophilic PEO ends deploy into the surrounding aqueous environment, both at the implant surface or into the pores. The resulting hydrophilic coating of the surface might improve the biocompatibility of the system and hinder protein adsorption as proposed elsewhere [88]. At the same time, PEO segments can fill the pores thereby creating a diffusion barrier. Optimization of Pluronic concentration or structure (ratio PEO/PPO, PEO chain length) is necessary to displace the balance between increased water absorption (hydrophilicity of the PEO chains) and diffusion barrier. Although authors considered that only this physical interaction is involved, they only studied one model protein (lysozyme) and additional interaction might occur with the drug, impacting its release. Depending on the application aimed, additives may also enhance drug activity, such as in anticancer therapy with some Pluronic potentially exerting chemo-sensitizing action [89].

#### 3.5. External phase to create in situ forming microparticles

To address the burst while maintaining a low viscosity of the system, a novel approach has been developed [31,80,90,91]. The drugcontaining polymeric solution (inner phase) is thereby emulsified with an oily or aqueous external phase containing a stabilizer. Droplets of the internal phase solidify upon contact with body fluids to form *in situ* forming microparticles (ISM).

One advantage of such a formulation is that it has lower viscosity than ISI formulations, because viscosity is determined by the external phase [63]. Consequently, higher polymer concentrations can be used without rendering injection difficult or painful. Additionally, ISM showed both reduced burst [31,32] and lower myotoxicity [92], as external phase creates a supplementary barrier slowing down solvent/ drug leaching and water entry during solidification. Another advantage is the regular shape of formed ISM, which is determined by the size of the previous emulsion droplets and therefore minimizes morphological variations hence providing a more consistent and reproducible drug release than ISI. Nevertheless, as for every emulsified system, despite the use of surfactants, the main drawback could be a lack of emulsion stability. In the case of ISM, as the emulsion is extemporaneously prepared, this does not challenge the injection itself. However the coalescence of emulsion droplets could occur during their solidification [60].

Similarly to ISI, influence of several parameters on ISM systems has been studied [31,32,46,80,90]. In the same manner as ISI, burst decreases depending on the solvent and polymer used, increasing polymer concentration or decreasing drug loading. Additionally, higher viscosity of the external phase, faster emulsification rate or lower internal/external phase ratio can also contribute to burst reduction. In this respect, Li et al. [93] optimized the preparation of vinpocetine-ISM using a spherical symmetric design–response surface methodology considering drug loading, surfactant concentration and internal/external phase ratio. Optimized ISM had a very smooth surface and displayed a very gradual release with low burst *in vitro* (6.64% released the first day).

#### 4. Remaining limitations to be addressed

*In situ* forming implants are promising galenic tools to administer, protect and release a wide range of compounds in a sustained fashion. They avoid frequent administrations, painful surgical procedures, allow localized or systemic drug delivery and are self-eliminating. And yet only two products have been commercialized until now. This could be potentially explained by the several issues which have to be solved: (i) drug burst release, (ii) safety and tolerability, (iii) reproduc-ibility, and (iv) sterilization and stability. Means of controlling the first point have been extensively developed above; remaining points will be detailed below.

## 4.1. Safety

Despite the fact that some ISI products have already been commercialized, injection of organic solvent(s) remains a cause for concern. To choose the best solvent is quite difficult, because only little toxicological data concerning their parenteral administration are available (Table 2). However, NMP, DMSO, BA, BB and glycofurol have been used in injectable products for human use [94,95] and 2P and TA in veterinary products [96].

Only few toxicological and histological studies of ISI are reported in the literature, on several animal species and with sometimes contradictory results. For example, Bodmeier et al. used a rat model to evaluate the acute myotoxicity after single intramuscular injection [92,97]. In the first study, they tested in vitro NMP, DMSO and 2P as pure solvents: only 2P toxicity was significantly lower than the positive control [92]. Injections of ISI based on these solvents led to toxicities comparable to pure solvents. In the second study, they tested BA, ethyl acetate, propylene carbonate, TA and triethyl citrate and except for ethyl acetate, all solvents caused high muscle toxicity, especially BA [97]. The evaluation of muscle damage during 72 h in vivo after intramuscular injection of ISI or ISM based on 2P or ethyl acetate revealed that myotoxicity of ISI was not different from pure solvents, while ISM were found to be much less myotoxic because of the 1 to 10-fold dilution of the solvent with the external phase. Results from a study conducted over a longer time frame on monkeys are not consistent with the foregoing [98]. Authors injected animals both subcutaneously and intramuscularly with ISI formulations based on NMP or DMSO. No safety concern appeared, as animals maintained normal behaviors during the study and histological analysis after 1 month showed tissue reaction similar to those reported for usual preformed biodegradable implants. However, recent concerns about the reproductive toxicity of NMP administered orally and dermally resulted in a tightening of the permitted daily exposure information included in the International Conference on Harmonisation guidelines Q3C (R5) on impurities in 2006.

Finally, in rabbits, ISI based on glycofurol or on a mixture of BB and BA showed no irritation after subcutaneous or intramuscular injections and/or normal inflammatory and foreign body reactions similar to blank and pure drug solutions [33,38,99]. In addition to the modulation of solvent mixture hydrophobicity, the advantage to use BA is its local anesthetic effect, which could avoid or reduce pain during injection, especially for viscous solutions [5].

Overall, ISI formulations appear to be well tolerated. Systems with hydrophobic solvent are thought to be less irritating, as solvent diffuses more slowly into the surrounding tissues. For the same reason, ISMsystems are generally regarded as less irritant than ISI, because the external oily phase forms a barrier between the muscle and the internal phase, thus limiting the amount of solvent in immediate contact with the muscle after injection.

To conclude, toxicity evaluations of ISI seem to differ depending on the route of administration, the method employed, the time of evaluation and eventually the animal model. Extensive toxicological studies, with a more harmonized methodology, are really needed to widen the future of ISI. They will represent an important cost, but also a beneficial step for other drug delivery systems, as many of the newly discovered drugs have low water-solubility. New solvents such as low molecular poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) have been introduced [100–102]. Nevertheless, authors reported that conventional PEG accelerates the degradation of PLGA in solutions [61] by a trans-esterification mechanism [101]. As a result, significant improvement was obtained by alkyl-capping of the polymer ends. Additionally, transient edema was reported with PEG [103].

An alternative approach to enhance the safety of *in situ* systems is to reduce or suppress the need of organic solvents through the development of new polymers. For example, alkyl substituted polylactides were recently synthesized from the monomer 2-hydroxyoctanoic acid [104]. Resulting biodegradable polymers ("hexyl-substituted

polylactides" or "hex-PLA") form viscous solutions, are injectable without or with only small amount of NMP (<5%) and showed good biocompatibility [105].

#### 4.2. Reproducibility

A key feature of drug delivery systems is the reproducibility of the drug release characteristics. This is obviously conditioned by reproducibility in terms of shape, size and structure. Structure of ISI is highly dependent on the components and rate of phase inversion, as discussed above. Concerning shape and size, however, they are influenced by several factors related to the formulation, the administration procedure and the environment [7].

As the solidification of the *in situ* systems takes place at the site of injection, it is easily understandable that it will be particularly sensitive to environmental changes. Accordingly, good correlations between polymer precipitation and drug release have been obtained both *in vitro* and *in vivo* while establishing correlations between *in vitro* and *in vivo* drug releases remains challenging [42,74]. Even between *in vitro* results, comparisons are difficult, as several protocols for drug release assays from ISI are described in the literature. Variations include the composition, volume and pH of the aqueous medium, use of shaking device, dialysis membrane [31] or even home-made structures [106] and agarose phantoms [42].

Only a few studies have been conducted to evaluate how the aqueous environment composition influences the system *in vitro*. Brodbeck et al. found that organic salt or small chain triglyceride in the aqueous bath impact demixing kinetics and lysozyme release (PLGA 50% m/m in NMP, TA or EB) [14]. Formulations based on solvent with high affinity for the non-solvent bath (NMP), however, were less strongly affected. In another study, quenching of a PLGA 50% m/m/DMSO solution with water, a phosphate buffer solution or with horse serum did not result in any change neither in phase inversion dynamic nor in the depot morphology [41]. The use of DMSO, a freely water miscible solvent, in this latter study is a potential explanation for the lack of change.

In addition to potential differences in the external tissue surroundings composition (proteins, salts, acids etc.), one of the main factor of influence in vivo is the tissue stiffness. ISI were indeed originally intended to be injected subcutaneously or intramuscularly. Nevertheless, emerging applications are moving towards more unusual sites of injection, such as directly into specific area (the eye [107], the brain [108]), physiological pockets [12,26,27], tumors [109-111] or bone defects [13]. This is achieved due to the capacity of ISI to adjust readily to the surrounding tissue, providing a high level of contact. However, the final shape of the injected implant will affect the diffusion conditions and thus drug release. Patel et al. [110] obtained for instance uniform spherical shape after in vitro injection, when flat disc like shape was observed after subcutaneous injection and multi-lobular shape after intratumoral injection. Additionally, they tested three different PLGA in ISI injected subcutaneously; fluorescein burst release was always higher in vivo than in vitro. They attributed this trend to the limitation of implant swelling and expansion in vivo, due to interstitial pressure or compressive forces exerted by the surrounding tissue. Other authors proposed the use of ISM systems to improve reproducibility, as regular shape is ensured by the emulsion droplets solidification [90].

Injection sites might also diverge in terms of tolerance. *In situ* forming formulations are generally described as well tolerated, although a fibrous capsule surrounding the implant has been described [103]. Such a structure would constitute a barrier impeding water/solvent exchanges and drug release. Moreover, entrapment of polymeric oligomers produced during degradation within the capsule might result in a lower pH inside the matrix and thus accelerated matrix degradation. In this respect, non-invasive imagery techniques (electron paramagnetic resonance [112], magnetic resonance imaging [103], and ultrasound imaging [42,74,110]) can be useful for the real-time monitoring of ISI. They provide information about the implant itself (solidification, shape, size,



Fig. 9. The three phases of drug release from ISI and critical parameters affecting them.

and disappearance) in addition to the eventual biological response to implantation (edema, inflammation, and encapsulation).

Finally, the conception of injection devices in order to standardize the deepness and the speed of injection might broaden clinical applications of ISI in the future.

#### 4.3. Industrial development

From an industrial point of view, *in situ* forming systems provide several benefits. First, the development of these injectable sustained-release formulations might extend the life cycle of a drug. Second, preparation process is very simple, accomplishes essentially 100% encapsulation efficiency and avoids the use of high temperatures or high shear methods which can be deleterious for fragile compounds. Consequently, a wide range of molecules can be incorporated into ISI, including peptides and nucleic acids.

ISI formulations are intended to be injected into the body and thus have to fulfill parenteral requirements including sterility. Gammairradiation is widely accepted for terminal sterilization of biodegradable polymer systems such as ISI since it results only in a slight decrease in molecular weight (*e.g.* [13,82]). If the drug is not stable into the polymeric solution, it can be provided as a lyophilizate in a separate syringe: sterilization is obtained *via* sterile filtration or aseptic manufacturing. Dong et al. [61] have also proposed to freeze–dry a drug-containing PLGA solution in dioxane or acetic acid. The obtained sponges can be dissolved in the ISI solvent just before injection. However residual dioxane or acetic acid can be a problem for this approach.

Interestingly, delivery time of drugs from ISI can be modulated over a large range. Consequently ISI offer an alternative to oral (24 h), transdermal systems (1–7 days) and conventional implants (months–years).

A key element of the *in situ* systems is the polymer: safe use history, FDA approval and wide range of products available have made PLA and PLGA very popular. Nevertheless, these synthetic polymers are costly (2000–6000 \$/kg) and change in supplier as well as batch-to-batch variations could lead to different properties. For example, copolymer microstructure (*i.e.* alternation of GA/LA units) is strongly influenced by the polymerization conditions, which determine the importance of the main secondary reactions (redistribution reactions) during the polymerization process [65]. Furthermore, despite PLGA non-toxicity and good *in vivo* degradation properties, polymer–drug interactions or acid-ic microenvironment created during the degradation may represent additional obstacles. Switch towards other polymers ongoing surface erosion or homogeneous bulk erosion could represent a valid approach.

The use of potentially toxic organic solvents, however, remains a major issue for these formulations. Therefore, toxicological studies and the elucidation of new solvents could help to further develop ISI systems.

Finally, a comprehensive overview of the main points discussed in the different sections of this review is proposed in Fig. 9.



**Fig. 10.** Schematic representation for a rational design of *in situ* implants. DMSO: dimethylsulfoxide; NMP: *N*-methyl-2-pyrrolidone; TA: triacetin; BB: benzyl benzoate; BA: benzyl alcohol; EA: ethyl acetate; LA: lactide; GA: glycolide; ISM: *in situ* forming microparticles.

#### 5. Conclusion

Polymeric *in situ* implants formed by phase separation are promising minimally invasive parenteral formulations applicable in many therapeutic fields. A loading dose followed by a sustained release at lower concentration may be desirable especially for hormonal castration, anticancer therapy, for antibiotic applications as well as for local anesthesia. Apart from the traditional use as delivery systems for chemical compounds, *in situ* implants also offer potential uses as gene delivery platform or tissue repair scaffold. In the future, one might imagine further applications, for example in vaccination or in allergic desensitization, as already shown with other polymeric forms [113,114]. Finally, composite forms might also be designed, where ISI will allow site-specific delivery of other drug-containing systems. One example is already encountered in the literature: Yehia et al. demonstrated recently the feasibility of ISI-containing lipospheres [115].

This review gives an overview of the actual knowledge about design and performance of *in situ* forming implants and it offers the keys to a rational development of products (Fig. 10) with potential benefits in terms of costs and patient compliance.

#### Acknowledgments

Authors would like to thank the Agence Nationale de la Recherche for financial support ("NanoSNO" project) and Pr P. Leroy (EA 3452, Nancy) for his attentive reading of the manuscript.

#### References

- L.R. Fogueri, S. Singh, Smart polymers for controlled delivery of proteins and peptides: a review of patents, Recent Pat. Drug Deliv. Formul. 3 (2009) 40–48.
- [2] W.M. Obeidat, Recent patents review in microencapsulation of pharmaceuticals using the emulsion solvent removal methods, Recent Pat. Drug Deliv. Formul. 3 (2009) 178–192.
- [3] S. Mao, C. Guo, Y. Shi, L.C. Li, Recent advances in polymeric microspheres for parenteral drug delivery-part 1, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 9 (2012) 1161–1176.
- [4] P. Couvreur, C. Vauthier, Nanotechnology: intelligent design to treat complex disease, Pharm. Res. 23 (2006) 1417–1450.

- [5] C.B. Packhaeuser, J. Schnieders, C.G. Oster, T. Kissel, *In situ* forming parenteral drug delivery systems: an overview, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 58 (2004) 445–455.
- [6] A. Hatefi, B. Amsden, Biodegradable injectable in situ forming drug delivery systems, J. Control. Release 80 (2002) 9–28.
- [7] S. Kempe, K. Mäder, *In situ* forming implants an attractive formulation principle for parenteral depot formulations, J. Control. Release 161 (2012) 668–679.
- [8] P. Agarwal, I.D. Rupenthal, Injectable implants for the sustained release of protein and peptide drugs, Drug Discov. Today 18 (2013) 337–349.
- [9] R.L. Dunn, J.P. English, D.R. Cowsar, D.P. Vanderbilt, Biodegradable in situ forming implants and methods of producing the same, US Patent No. 4 938 763, 1990.
- [10] R.L. Dunn, J.P. English, D.R. Cowsar, D.P. Vanderbilt, Biodegradable in-situ forming implants and methods of producing the same, US Patent No. 5 278 201, 1994.
- [11] O. Sartor, Eligard: leuprolide acetate in a novel sustained-release delivery system, Urology 61 (2003) 25–31.
- [12] G.L. Southard, R.L. Dunn, S. Garrett, The drug delivery and biomaterial attributes of the ATRIGEL technology in the treatment of periodontal disease, Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs 7 (1998) 1483–1491.
- [13] K.P. Andriano, B. Chandrashekar, K. McEnery, R.L. Dunn, K. Moyer, C.M. Balliu, K.M. Holland, S. Garrett, W.E. Huffer, Preliminary *in vivo* studies on the osteogenic potential of bone morphogenetic proteins delivered from an absorbable puttylike polymer matrix, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 53 (2000) 36–43.
- [14] K.J. Brodbeck, J.R. DesNoyer, A.J. McHugh, Phase inversion dynamics of PLGA solutions related to drug delivery. Part II. The role of solution thermodynamics and bath-side mass transfer, J. Control. Release 62 (1999) 333–344.
- [15] F.-A. Chen, M.A. Kuriakose, M.-X. Zhou, M.D. DeLacure, R.L. Dunn, Biodegradable polymer-mediated intratumoral delivery of cisplatin for treatment of human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma in a chimeric mouse model, Head Neck 25 (2003) 554–560.
- [16] W.S. Dernell, R.C. Straw, S.J. Withrow, B.E. Powers, S.M. Fujita, G.S. Yewey, K.F. Joseph, R.L. Dunn, S.L. Whitman, G.L. Southard, Apparent interaction of dimethyl sulfoxide with cisplatin released from polymer delivery devices injected subcutaneously in dogs, J. Drug Target. 5 (1998) 391–396.
- [17] C. Wischke, Y. Zhang, S. Mittal, S.P. Schwendeman, Development of PLGA-based injectable delivery systems for hydrophobic fenretinide, Pharm. Res. 27 (2010) 2063–2074.
- [18] K.J. Brodbeck, S. Pushpala, A.J. McHugh, Sustained release of human growth hormone from PLGA solution depots, Pharm. Res. 16 (1999) 1825–1829.
- [19] S. Chen, J. Singh, *In vitro* release of levonorgestrel from phase sensitive and thermosensitive smart polymer delivery systems, Pharm. Dev. Technol. 10 (2005) 319–325.
- [20] S. Chen, J. Singh, Controlled delivery of testosterone from smart polymer solution based systems: in vitro evaluation, Int. J. Pharm. 295 (2005) 183–190.
- [21] S. Prabhu, L.P. Tran, G.V. Betageri, Effect of co-solvents on the controlled release of calcitonin polypeptide from *in situ* biodegradable polymer implants, Drug Deliv. 12 (2005) 393–398.
- [22] M. Rafienia, S.H. Emami, H. Mirzadeh, H. Mobedi, S. Karbasi, Influence of poly (lactide-co-glycolide) type and gamma irradiation on the betamethasone acetate release from the *in situ* forming systems, Curr. Drug Deliv. 6 (2009) 184–191.
- [23] Q. Liu, H. Zhang, G. Zhou, S. Xie, H. Zou, Y. Yu, G. Li, D. Sun, G. Zhang, Y. Lu, Y. Zhong, *In vitro* and *in vivo* study of thymosin alpha1 biodegradable *in situ* forming poly(lactide-co-glycolide) implants, Int. J. Pharm. 397 (2010) 122–129.
- [24] R.E. Eliaz, D. Wallach, J. Kost, Delivery of soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor from *in-situ* forming PLGA implants: *in-vivo*, Pharm. Res. 17 (2000) 1546–1550.
- [25] J.A. Camargo, A. Sapin, C. Nouvel, D. Daloz, M. Leonard, F. Bonneaux, J.L. Six, P. Maincent, Injectable PLA-based *in situ* forming implants for controlled release of Ivermectin a BCS Class II drug: solvent selection based on physico-chemical characterization, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 39 (2013) 146–155.
- [26] H.A. Gad, M.A. El-Nabarawi, S.S. Abd El-Hady, Formulation and evaluation of PLA and PLGA in situ implants containing secnidazole and/or doxycycline for treatment of periodontitis, AAPS Pharm. Sci. Tech. 9 (2008) 878–884.
- [27] Y. Qin, M. Yuan, L. Li, W. Li, J. Xue, Formulation and evaluation of *in situ* forming PLA implant containing tinidazole for the treatment of periodontitis, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B Appl. Biomater. 100 (2012) 2197–2202.
- [28] D.N. Kapoor, O.P. Katare, S. Dhawan, In situ forming implant for controlled delivery of an anti-HIV fusion inhibitor, Int. J. Pharm. 426 (2012) 132–143.
- [29] Y. Tang, J. Singh, Controlled delivery of aspirin: effect of aspirin on polymer degradation and *in vitro* release from PLGA based phase sensitive systems, Int. J. Pharm. 357 (2008) 119–125.
- [30] S.-H. Wang, L.-N. Yin, Z.-H. Liang, S.-J. Lu, S. Zeng, Stereoselective behavior of a novel biodegradable racemic ketoprofen injectable implant in rats, Chirality 19 (2007) 769–774.
- [31] H. Kranz, E. Yilmaz, G.A. Brazeau, R. Bodmeier, *In vitro* and *in vivo* drug release from a novel *in situ* forming drug delivery system, Pharm. Res. 25 (2008) 1347–1354.
- [32] T.A. Ahmed, H.M. Ibrahim, F. Ibrahim, A.M. Samy, A. Kaseem, M.T.H. Nutan, M.D. Hussain, Development of biodegradable *in situ* implant and microparticle injectable formulations for sustained delivery of haloperidol, J. Pharm. Sci. 101 (2012) 3753–3762.
- [33] S. Dong, S. Wang, C. Zheng, W. Liang, Y. Huang, An *in situ*-forming, solid lipid/PLGA hybrid implant for long-acting antipsychotics, Soft Matter 7 (2011) 5873–5878.
- [34] L. Wang, A. Wang, X. Zhao, X. Liu, D. Wang, F. Sun, Y. Li, Design of a long-term antipsychotic *in situ* forming implant and its release control method and mechanism, Int. J. Pharm. 427 (2012) 284–292.
- [35] R. Bakhshi, E. Vasheghani-Farahani, H. Mobedi, A. Jamshidi, M. Khakpour, The effect of additives on naltrexone hydrochloride release and solvent removal rate from an injectable *in situ* forming PLGA implant, Polym. Adv. Technol. 17 (2006) 354–359.

- [36] M. Madhu, L. Shaila, B.J. Anwar, Biodegradable injectable implants systems for sustained delivery using poly(lactide-co-glycolide) copolymers, Int. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. (Suppl. 1) (2009) 103–107.
- [37] S. Dhawan, R. Kapil, D.N. Kapoor, Development and evaluation of *in situ* gelforming system for sustained delivery of insulin, J. Biomater. Appl. 25 (2011) 699–720.
- [38] R.E. Eliaz, F.C. Szoka, Robust and prolonged gene expression from injectable polymeric implants, Gene Ther. 9 (2002) 1230–1237.
- [39] O. Jeon, M. Krebs, E. Alsberg, Controlled and sustained gene delivery from injectable, porous PLGA scaffolds, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 98 (2011) 72–79.
- [40] T.-H. Young, L.-W. Chen, Pore formation mechanism of membranes from phase inversion process, Desalination 103 (1995) 233–247.
- [41] P.D. Graham, K.J. Brodbeck, A.J. McHugh, Phase inversion dynamics of PLGA solutions related to drug delivery, J. Control. Release 58 (1999) 233–245.
- [42] L. Solorio, B.M. Babin, R.B. Patel, J. Mach, N. Azar, A.A. Exner, Noninvasive characterization of *in situ* forming implants using diagnostic ultrasound, J. Control. Release 143 (2010) 183–190.
- [43] W.I. Higuchi, Analysis of data on medicament release from ointments, J. Pharm. Sci. 51 (1962) 802–804.
- [44] C.G. Pitt, The controlled parenteral delivery of polypeptides and proteins, Int. J. Pharm. 59 (1990) 173–196.
- [45] S.A. McKelvey, W.J. Koros, Phase separation, vitrification, and the manifestation of macrovoids in polymeric asymmetric membranes, J. Membr. Sci 112 (1996) 29–39.
- [46] X. Luan, R. Bodmeier, Influence of the poly(lactide-co-glycolide) type on the leuprolide release from *in situ* forming microparticle systems, J. Control. Release 110 (2006) 266–272.
- [47] C. Raman, C. Berkland, K. Kim, D.W. Pack, Modeling small-molecule release from PLG microspheres: effects of polymer degradation and nonuniform drug distribution, J. Control. Release 103 (2005) 149–158.
- [48] H. Okada, One- and three-month release injectable microspheres of the LH-RH superagonist leuprorelin acetate, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 28 (1997) 43–70.
- [49] N. Faisant, J. Siepmann, J.P. Benoit, PLGA-based microparticles: elucidation of mechanisms and a new, simple mathematical model quantifying drug release, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 15 (2002) 355–366.
- [50] S. Fredenberg, M. Wahlgren, M. Reslow, A. Axelsson, The mechanisms of drug release in poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)-based drug delivery systems – a review, Int. J. Pharm. 415 (2011) 34–52.
- [51] A. Göpferich, Mechanisms of polymer degradation and erosion, Biomaterials 17 (1996) 103–114.
- [52] S.J. De Jong, E.R. Arias, D.T.S. Rijkers, C.F. van Nostrum, J.J. Kettenes-van den Bosch, W.E. Hennink, New insights into the hydrolytic degradation of poly(lactic acid): participation of the alcohol terminus, Polymer 42 (2001) 2795–2802.
- [53] M. Körber, PLGA erosion: solubility- or diffusion-controlled? Pharm. Res. 27 (2010) 2414–2420.
- [54] F. von Burkersroda, L. Schedl, A. Göpferich, Why degradable polymers undergo surface erosion or bulk erosion, Biomaterials 23 (2002) 4221–4231.
- [55] I. Grizzi, H. Garreau, S. Li, M. Vert, Hydrolytic degradation of devices based on poly(DL-lactic acid) size-dependence, Biomaterials 16 (1995) 305–311.
- [56] S.M. Li, M. Vert, Morphological changes resulting from the hydrolytic degradation of stereocopolymers derived from L- and DL-Lactides, Macromolecules 27 (1994) 3107–3110.
- [57] Z. Ghalanbor, M. Körber, R. Bodmeier, Interdependency of protein-release completeness and polymer degradation in PLGA-based implants, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. (2013)[http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2013.03.031.].
- [58] J.R. DesNoyer, A.J. McHugh, The effect of Pluronic on the protein release kinetics of an injectable drug delivery system, J. Control. Release 86 (2003) 15–24.
- [59] M.L. Houchin, S.A. Neuenswander, E.M. Topp, Effect of excipients on PLGA film degradation and the stability of an incorporated peptide, J. Control. Release 117 (2007) 413–420.
- [60] M. Voigt, M. Koerber, R. Bodmeier, Improved physical stability and injectability of non-aqueous *in situ* PLGA microparticle forming emulsions, Int. J. Pharm. 434 (2012) 251–256.
- [61] W.Y. Dong, M. Koerber, V. Lopez Esguerra, R. Bodmeier, Stability of poly(D, L-lactideco-glycolide) and leuprolide acetate in *in-situ* forming drug delivery systems, J. Control. Release 115 (2006) 158–167.
- [62] R.C. Rowe, P.J. Sheskey, W.G. Cook, M.E. Fenton, Handbook of Pharmaceutical Excipients, 7th edition Pharmaceutical Press, London, 2012.
- [63] W. Rungseevijitprapa, R. Bodmeier, Injectability of biodegradable in situ forming microparticle systems (ISM), Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 36 (2009) 524–531.
- [64] International conference on harmonisation, Impurities: Guidelines for Residual Solvents, Q3C (R4), 2009.
- [65] M. Okada, Chemical syntheses of biodegradable polymers, Prog. Polym. Sci. 27 (2002) 87–133.
- [66] D.K. Gilding, A.M. Reed, Biodegradable polymers for use in surgery- polyglycolic/ poly(lactic acid) homo-and copolymers:1, Polymer 20 (1979) 1459–1464.
- [67] R.J. Fredericks, A.J. Melveger, L.J. Dolegiewitz, Morphological and structural changes in a copolymer of glycolide and lactide occurring as a result of hydrolysis, J. Polym. Sci. 22 (1984) 57–66.
- [68] S. Li, Hydrolytic degradation characteristics of aliphatic polyesters derived from lactic and glycolic acids, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 48 (1999) 342–353.
- [69] G. Schwach, M. Vert, *In vitro* and *in vivo* degradation of lactic acid-based interference screws used in cruciate ligament reconstruction, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 25 (1999) 283–291.
- [70] J.R. DesNoyer, A.J. McHugh, Role of crystallization in the phase inversion dynamics and protein release kinetics of injectable drug delivery systems, J. Control. Release 70 (2001) 285–294.

- [71] T.G. Park, Degradation of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres: effect of copolymer composition, Biomaterials 16 (1995) 1123–1130.
- [72] X.S. Wu, N. Wang, Synthesis, characterization, biodegradation, and drug delivery application of biodegradable lactic/glycolic acid polymers. Part II: biodegradation, J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 12 (2001) 21–34.
- [73] R.B. Patel, A.N. Carlson, L. Solorio, A.A. Exner, Characterization of formulation parameters affecting low molecular weight drug release from *in situ* forming drug delivery systems, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 94 (2010) 476–484.
- [74] L. Solorio, A.M. Olear, J.I. Hamilton, R.B. Patel, A.C. Beiswenger, J.E. Wallace, H. Zhou, A.A. Exner, Noninvasive characterization of the effect of varying PLGA molecular weight blends on *in situ* forming implant behavior using ultrasound imaging, Theranostics 2 (2012) 1064–1077.
- [75] M.A. Tracy, K.L. Ward, L. Firouzabadian, Y. Wang, N. Dong, R. Qian, Y. Zhang, Factors affecting the degradation rate of poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres *in vivo* and *in vitro*, Biomaterials 20 (1999) 1057–1062.
- [76] S. Chhabra, V. Sachdeva, S. Singh, Influence of end groups on *in vitro* release and biological activity of lysozyme from a phase-sensitive smart polymerbased *in situ* gel forming controlled release drug delivery system, Int. J. Pharm. 342 (2007) 72–77.
- [77] K.Y. Cho, S. Lee, J-K. Park, *In situ* micro-sized gel-forming injectable implant using biodegradable amphiphilic graft copolymer, Macromol. Biosci. 7 (2007) 784–788.
- [78] G. Tae, J.A. Kornfield, J.A. Hubbell, Sustained release of human growth hormone from *in situ* forming hydrogels using self-assembly of fluoroalkyl-ended poly(ethylene glycol), Biomaterials 26 (2005) 5259–5266.
- [79] W.J. Lambert, K.D. Peck, Development of an *in situ* forming biodegradable poly-lactide-co-glycolide system for the controlled release of proteins, J. Control. Release 33 (1995) 189–195.
- [80] X. Luan, R. Bodmeier, *In situ* forming microparticle system for controlled delivery of leuprolide acetate: influence of the formulation and processing parameters, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 27 (2006) 143–149.
- [81] S.H. Wang, Z.H. Liang, S. Zeng, Monitoring release of ketoprofen enantiomers from biodegradable poly(D, L-lactide-co-glycolide) injectable implants, Int. J. Pharm. 337 (2007) 102–108.
- [82] H.B. Ravivarapu, K.L. Moyer, R.L. Dunn, Parameters affecting the efficacy of a sustained release polymeric implant of leuprolide, Int. J. Pharm. 194 (2000) 181–191.
- [83] M. Körber, R. Bodmeier, Development of an *in situ* forming PLGA drug delivery system I. Characterization of a non-aqueous protein precipitation, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 35 (2008) 283–292.
- [84] L. Li, S.P. Schwendeman, Mapping neutral microclimate pH in PLGA microspheres, J. Control. Release 101 (2005) 163–173.
- [85] R.A. Jain, C.T. Rhodes, A.M. Railkar, A.W. Malick, N.H. Shah, Controlled release of drugs from injectable *in situ* formed biodegradable PLGA microspheres: effect of various formulation variables, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 50 (2000) 257–262.
- [86] M. Zare, H. Mobedi, J. Barzin, H. Mivehchi, A. Jamshidi, R. Mashayekhi, Effect of additives on release profile of leuprolide acetate in an *in situ* forming controlled-release system: *In vitro* study, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 107 (2008) 3781–3787.
- [87] A. Mashak, H. Mobedi, F. Ziaee, M. Nekoomanesh, The effect of aliphatic esters on the formation and degradation behavior of PLGA-based *in situ* forming system, Polym. Bull. 66 (2011) 1063–1073.
- [88] G. Gyulai, C.B. Pénzes, M. Mohai, T. Lohner, P. Petrik, S. Kurunczi, É. Kiss, Interfacial properties of hydrophilized poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) layers with various thicknesses, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 362 (2011) 600–606.
- [89] A.A. Exner, T.M. Krupka, K. Scherrer, J.M. Teets, Enhancement of carboplatin toxicity by Pluronic block copolymers, J. Control. Release 106 (2005) 188–197.
- [90] H. Kranz, R. Bodmeier, A novel in situ forming drug delivery system for controlled parenteral drug delivery, Int. J. Pharm. 332 (2007) 107–114.
- [91] R. Bodmeier, Multiphase system, European patent No. 996426 A1, 2000.
- [92] H. Kranz, G.A. Brazeau, J. Napaporn, R.L. Martin, W. Millard, R. Bodmeier, Myotoxicity studies of injectable biodegradable *in-situ* forming drug delivery systems, Int. J. Pharm. 212 (2001) 11–18.
- [93] J. Li, F. Chen, C. Hu, L. He, K. Yan, L. Zhou, W. Pan, Optimized preparation of *in situ* forming microparticles for the parenteral delivery of vinpocetine, Chem. Pharm. Bull. 56 (2008) 796–801.

- [94] R.G. Strickley, Solubilizing excipients in oral and injectable formulations, Pharm. Res. 21 (2004) 201–230.
- [95] F. Mottu, A. Laurent, D.A. Rufenacht, E. Doelker, Organic solvents for pharmaceutical parenterals and embolic liquids: a review of toxicity data, J. Pharm. Sci. Technol. 54 (2000) 456–469.
- [96] Food and Drug Administration, New Animal Drug Application NADA 141-265, 2008.
- [97] W. Rungseevijitprapa, G.A. Brazeau, J.W. Simkins, R. Bodmeier, Myotoxicity studies of O/W-in situ forming microparticle systems, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 69 (2008) 126–133.
- [98] M.A. Royals, S.M. Fujita, G.L. Yewey, J. Rodriguez, P.C. Schultheiss, R.L. Dunn, Biocompatibility of a biodegradable *in situ* forming implant system in rhesus monkeys, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 45 (1999) 231–239.
- [99] F. Kang, J. Singh, *In vitro* release of insulin and biocompatibility of *in situ* forming gel systems, Int. J. Pharm. 304 (2005) 83–90.
- [100] K. Schoenhammer, J. Boisclair, H. Schuetz, H. Petersen, A. Goepferich, Biocompatibility of an injectable *in situ* forming depot for peptide delivery, J. Pharm. Sci. 99 (2010) 4390–4399.
- [101] K. Schoenhammer, H. Petersen, F. Guethlein, A. Goepferich, Injectable in situ forming depot systems: PEG-DAE as novel solvent for improved PLGA storage stability, Int. J. Pharm. 371 (2009) 33–39.
- [102] K. Schoenhammer, H. Petersen, F. Guethlein, A. Goepferich, Poly(ethyleneglycol) 500 dimethylether as novel solvent for injectable *in situ* forming depots, Pharm. Res. 26 (2009) 2568–2577.
- [103] S. Kempe, H. Metz, P.G. Pereira, K. Mader, Non-invasive *in vivo* evaluation of *in situ* forming PLGA implants by benchtop magnetic resonance imaging (BT-MRI) and EPR spectroscopy, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 74 (2010) 102–108.
- [104] L.R. Asmus, R. Gurny, M. Möller, Solutions as solutions-synthesis and use of a liquid polyester excipient to dissolve lipophilic drugs and formulate sustained-release parenterals, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 79 (2011) 584–591.
- [105] L.R. Asmus, J.-C. Tille, B. Kaufmann, L. Melander, T. Weiss, K. Vessman, W. Koechling, G. Schwach, R. Gurny, M. Möller, *In vivo* biocompatibility, sustained-release and stability of triptorelin formulations based on a liquid, degradable polymer, J. Control. Release 165 (2013) 199–206.
- [106] R. Astaneh, M. Erfan, H. Moghimi, H. Mobedi, Changes in morphology of *in situ* forming PLGA implant prepared by different polymer molecular weight and its effect on release behavior, J. Pharm. Sci. 98 (2009) 135–145.
- [107] H. Ueda, M.C. Hacker, A. Haesslein, S. Jo, D.M. Ammon, R.N. Borazjani, J.F. Kunzler, J.C. Salamone, A.G. Mikos, Injectable, *in situ* forming poly(propylene fumarate)based ocular drug delivery systems, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 83 (2007) 656–666.
- [108] N. Nasongkla, A. Boongird, S. Hongeng, C. Manaspon, N. Larbcharoensub, Preparation and biocompatibility study of *in situ* forming polymer implants in rat brains, J. Mater. Sci. Mater. Med. 23 (2012) 497–505.
- [109] T.M. Krupka, B.D. Weinberg, N.P. Ziats, J.R. Haaga, A.A. Exner, Injectable polymer depot combined with radiofrequency ablation for treatment of experimental carcinoma in rat, Invest. Radiol. 41 (2006) 890–897.
- [110] R.B. Patel, L. Solorio, H. Wu, T. Krupka, A.A. Exner, Effect of injection site on *in situ* implant formation and drug release *in vivo*, J. Control. Release (2010) 350–358.
- [111] P.-E. Le Renard, F. Buchegger, A. Petri-Fink, F. Bosman, D. R
  üfenacht, H. Hofmann, E. Doelker, O. Jordan, Local moderate magnetically induced hyperthermia using an implant formed *in situ* in a mouse tumor model, Int. J. Hyperthermia 25 (2009) 229–239.
- [112] S. Kempe, H. Metz, K. Mader, Do in situ forming PLG/NMP implants behave similar in vitro and in vivo? A non-invasive and quantitative EPR investigation on the mechanisms of the implant formation process, J. Control. Release 130 (2008) 220–225.
- [113] J.-M. Lü, X. Wang, C. Marin-Muller, H. Wang, P.H. Lin, Q. Yao, C. Chen, Current advances in research and clinical applications of PLGA-based nanotechnology, Expert. Rev. Mol. Diagn. 9 (2009) 325–341.
- [114] M. Qiao, D. Chen, X. Ma, H. Hu, Sustained release of bee venom peptide from biodegradable thermosensitive PLGA–PEG–PLGA triblock copolymer-based hydrogels *in vitro*, Pharmazie 61 (2006) 199–202.
- [115] S.A. Yehia, A.H. Elshareey, I. Elsayed, A novel injectable *in situ* forming poly-DL-lactide and DL-lactide/glycolide implant containing lipospheres for controlled drug delivery, J. Liposome Res. 22 (2012) 128–138.